
MINUTES OF ARKANSAS STATE POLICE COMMISSION MEETING 
May 8, 2025 

 
The Arkansas State Police Commission met on Thursday, May 8, 2025, at the Arkansas State 
Police Headquarters, Little Rock, Arkansas. 
 
Commission Chairman Allison called the meeting to order at 10:10 a.m. 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: 

Commissioner John Allison, Chairman 
Commissioner Jim Hinkle, Vice Chairman 
Commissioner Ken Reeves, Secretary 
Commissioner Neff Basore 
Commissioner Steve Edwards 
Commissioner Mike Akin 
 

MEMBER ABSENT:  
Commissioner Jeff Teague 
 

STATE POLICE PERSONNEL PRESENT:  
Colonel Mike Hagar Lt. Colonel Mike Kennedy 
Lt. Colonel Jason Aaron Major Stacie Rhoads 
Major Ron Casey Major Roby Rhoads 
Jenna Castleberry Susan Tedford 
Eric Wacaster Kalika Rogers 
Sherry Woods Captain Randall Murphy 
Captain Rick Neill Major Jeff Drew 
Captain Dustin Morgan Lieutenant Jay McAllister 
Cindy Murphy Nick Genty 
Lieutenant Brant Tosh Captain Chris Goodman 
Sergeant Caleb Landreth Major Mike Moyer 
Karen Perry Lieutenant Josh Heckel 
SA Judson Dalton Myers Joan Shipley 
Phillip Warriner Jonathan Nettles 
Donna Humphries 
 

OTHERS PRESENT: 
 Sarah DeBusk, AG Office Jessica Kloss, AG Office 
 Carrie Landreth 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
 
Commission Chairman Allison led the pledge of allegiance.   
 
NOTIFICATION OF MEDIA: 
 
The media was notified of this meeting on April 30, 2025. 
 
MINUTES:  
 
Commission Chairman Allison stated you have the minutes of the previous meeting.  
Commissioner Reeves made a motion to approve the minutes of the April 10, 2025, regular 
monthly commission meeting.  Commissioner Basore seconded the motion.  Commission 
Chairman Allison stated we have a motion and second, any opposed, the motion carried. 
 
Commission Chairman Allison stated we have a promotion certificate, Colonel.  
 
PROMOTION CERTIFICATE: 
 
Colonel Mike Hagar presented a promotion certificate to Sergeant Caleb Landreth, promoting 
him to Sergeant in the Criminal Investigation Division, Company F.   
 
OFFICIAL COMMENDATIONS: 
 
Colonel Hagar stated the Official Commendation presentation is for Special Agent Dalton 
Myers with the overview by Lieutenant Josh Heckel.   
 
Lieutenant Josh Heckel stated good morning, Colonel and Commissioners on Thursday, 
October 24, 2024, Troop K received a report of a fatal hit and run accident on State Highway 



MINUTES OF ARKANSAS STATE POLICE COMMISSION MEETING 
May 8, 2025 – Page 2 
 
 
8 East in Polk County.  Troop K promptly reached out to the Criminal Investigations Division 
and SA Dalton Myers responded to the scene.  At the scene SA Myers effectively collected 
evidence and proactively visited several businesses to review their video security systems for 
footage of the suspect vehicle.  His efforts paid off when he discovered video evidence which 
he and Trooper Ledbetter analyzed.  The investigation conclusively identified the suspect 
vehicle as a maroon Buick Rainier.  SA Myers then conducted a thorough offline ACIC 
search of registered Buick Rainiers in Arkansas, following up with an investigation of those 
vehicles in the Polk County area.  While he completed this search, he recognized the suspect’s 
vehicle was not included.  Undeterred, he proceeded to the Polk County Assessor’s Office to 
acquire a list of assessed Buick Rainiers in the area, uncovering additional vehicles that were 
absent from the earlier ACIC search.  SA Myer’s continued to investigate and developed a 
suspect and the vehicle location.  During the interview the suspect did admit to hitting 
something, but he did not recognize what it was.  SA Myers had a lot of work hours in 
conducting this investigation, even working during the weekend when he was off duty. 
 
Colonel Mike Hagar presented Special Agent Dalton Myers with an Official Commendation 
Award. 
 
Commission Chairman Allison stated thank you everyone, and congratulations.  
 
Commission Chairman Allison stated next is division reports, the financial report was sent to 
us for review, thank you for that in advance, I like that, Donna.  Commission Chairman 
Allison asked Karen Perry if that was her idea.  Ms. Perry stated no it was Donna’s.  
Commission Chairman Allison stated a commissioner may have asked for it, that is good.  
 
Karen Perry stated good morning, Colonel, and Commissioners, you have the April report in 
front of you, we have two months left in the Fiscal Year and we are working to close out the 
end of the Fiscal Year.  We finished the session, our Act is 619, if anyone wants to look at it 
and read it, the State Police portion is sections 12-23.  We are working on our budget for 
FY26, we received the instructions yesterday and it is due on the 23rd of this month.   
 
Commission Chairman Allison stated Administrative Services, Major Roby Rhoads. 
 
Major Roby Rhoads stated Mr. Chairman, Commissioners, Colonel Hagar good morning, our 
report for last month includes on the Uniformed Noncommissioned side four new hires, two 
voluntary resignations, one termination, and two transfers.  The Commissioned transactions 
include one reinstatement, two retirements, two terminations, and 41 transfers and most of 
those were the recruits from the last class.  We currently have six military deployments.  
 
Major Roby Rhoads stated we are currently conducting PT testing and Written testing for the 
upcoming Troop School, and we have 183 qualified applicants in that process right now.   
 
Major Roby Rhoads stated our April paid claims for the ASP Health Insurance was 
$1,564,984.00 so we are staying pretty consistent at that $1.5 million and our total fund 
balance is $13,630,165.00.  
 
Colonel Hagar stated Caitlin told me, but now that the ARPAT is completed, do you know 
the percentage that passed?  Major Roby Rhoads stated the last time I heard it was 96% but 
there were some more people that took it, and we were missing a few who were going to take 
it on Monday.   
 
Commission Chairman Allison stated those numbers are up, is it the marketing side you think 
that is helping bring those numbers up or why are we getting more recruits?  Major Roby 
Rhoads stated well, the pay raise did not hurt.  Major Roby Rhoads stated our award-winning 
Jonathan Nettles has done a great job with some videos, so I think all that stuff has helped.  
Commission Chairman Allison stated the videos, yeah great job.  
 
Commissioner Edwards asked what did you say the fund balance was?  Major Roby Rhoads 
stated $13,630.165.00.  Commission Chairman Allison stated if you run 10 months in a row 
and you figure that out its $15 million and you have $13 million, hopefully we have some 
more sitting somewhere.  I have worried about this for the last 20 years, so far, we have kept 
our heads above water.  
 
Commission Chairman Allison stated Major Drew, Crimes Against Children.   
 



MINUTES OF ARKANSAS STATE POLICE COMMISSION MEETING 
May 8, 2025 – Page 3 
 
 
Major Drew stated good morning, Colonel, Chair, Commissioners, the CACD Hotline 
received 6,647 calls in the month of April, with 2,896 of those accepted for investigation.  
Major Drew stated there were 9 child deaths reported, two of those were investigated, six 
assessed and one documented.  Major Drews stated the CACD investigations unit accepted 
627 new cases, closed 503 cases, with 127 of those cases being true, for a substantiation rate 
of 25%.   
 
Commission Chairman Allison stated Criminal Investigations, Major Stacie Rhoads.  
 
Major Stacie Rhoads stated good morning for the month of April, CID initiated 139 cases, 
60 of those were primary, 14 were secondary, and we assisted in 62 other investigations.  We 
made 124 felony arrests, we conducted 96 crime scene searches, we conducted 158 hours of 
surveillance, we conducted 256 interviews and wrote 99 search warrants.  We made 35 court 
appearances, we also received 57 cyber tip investigations related to child exploitation.  
 
Major Stacie Rhoads said actually I am not going to tell you a sob story today.  Major Stacie 
Rhoads stated I am going to tell you, so last September we were fortunate enough to get a 
guy from Troop A and it was kind of a gift to us.  So we decided hey what can we do with 
this person that is going to give back to the communities in a way that we really have never 
dived off into before and we started looking at auto theft, which has really kind of blow up, 
with cloning vehicles, we are seeing a lot of title fraud, and VIN fraud so we dedicated this 
person to these types of cases.  Since September, once he got through training, he has been 
involved with recovering 21 vehicles, $3.5 million of other equipment like ATVs, heavy 
equipment and that kind of stuff.  Major Stacie Rhoads stated just in that short time frame 
Shane Caviness has been very instrumental in helping resolve some of these theft cases.  
Major Stacie Rhoads stated it’s not just in the recovery, but it is also in digging down to find 
out.  A lot of times we are finding that these are groups that are traveling to other states and 
coming up here because we have some really loose title laws, where it is easy to get a salvaged 
title which helps with that cloning aspect.  So, he has been very instrumental in working with 
other state agencies to dismantle these organized groups.  I just wanted to let you all know 
about some of the other stuff that we are doing that is not related to kids.   
 
Commission Chairman Allison stated it appears that every time there is an incident that 
happens at some police departments throughout the state or sheriff’s department, your team 
is called in and it is pretty amazing to me you are taking on more responsibility with all of 
the responsibility you have, it is pretty impressive, thanks for what you do.  Major Stacie 
Rhoads stated absolutely, we are happy to do that and especially when we realize these pay 
raises that we get, you know it is our responsibility to pick up that extra work when we know 
that our counterparts don’t get that, so we are happy to accept that responsibility.   
 
Commissioner Reeves stated a follow-up to what the chairman said, a couple months ago we 
had a report in CID, out of Company E, which is my area.  The Searcy County Sheriff’s 
Office had asked us to come in, had an infant, an 8-month-old with broken arms, or broken 
legs.  A couple of questions, Commissioner Reeves asked, “do you know what ever happened 
on that?”  Commissioner Reeves stated the father dropped him off at some friends while they 
went shopping in Missouri and they noticed something was wrong with the baby and they 
took it to the hospital, and it had broken arms and legs.  Major Stacie Rhoads stated I don’t 
remember if we ever made an arrest on that.  Major Stacie Rhoads asked Kalika, “Do you 
know,” I know we worked that in conjunction with CACD.  Major Jeff Drew stood up and 
stated we cannot comment.  Commissioner Reeves asked another question, would we have 
made that arrest or would the Searcy County Sheriff’s Office, I thought it was kind of 
interesting, the minute they heard about this they contacted us.  Major Stacie Rhoads stated 
when you hear me talk about primary and secondary investigations, a lot of times once we 
get called in, we ask hey do you want us to be the primary and you be secondary?  Sometimes 
they just need us to conduct the interviews and a lot of time in those cases when it is involving 
an infant, they don’t have the expertise in that, so I would imagine that we were primary and 
when we are primary we are responsible for getting the charges and following through to 
make sure that the case gets to the prosecutor.  Commissioner Basore stated in that case, 
wouldn’t there be an automatic referral to Major Drew’s division?  Major Stacie Rhoads 
stated a lot of times that is how we get called, is the child will show up at the hospital, the 
hotline gets notified and that triggers a law enforcement response.  Commissioner Reeves 
stated so this may have come from the hospital to begin with.  Major Stacie Rhoads stated 
that is correct it certainly could have.  Commissioner Reeves stated good, that is reassuring, 
thank you.    
 



MINUTES OF ARKANSAS STATE POLICE COMMISSION MEETING 
May 8, 2025 – Page 4 
 
 
Commission Chairman Allison stated Highway Patrol, Captain Chris Goodman. 
 
Lt. Colonel Jason Aaron stated Chairman and Commissioners today Captain Goodman is 
giving our Highway Patrol Report.  You may not be aware but Major Casey retires in January, 
he must leave because his drop runs out the end of January I believe, so he has to leave.  So, 
an open slot for Major in Highway Patrol will come open.  What we have done is kick out an 
email to all of the potential candidates across the state at the captain rank.  We sent out that 
email asking, giving them the opportunity to kind of cycle through Major Casey’s Office and 
kind of get a feel of what the Highway Patrol Division Commander does, what his every day-
to-day operation looks like.  So, we have a schedule made out from here until we make that 
promotion or advertise to replace Major Casey and so this week Captain Goodman is down 
here and probably each month depending on what captain is cycling through here, these 
reports will be presented by that captain.  Just kind of a heads up down the road, that we are 
cycling the captains through here to have an idea of what to expect if they are interested in 
that Major position.  Something different we are doing, and we will see how it works. 
 
Captain Chris Goodman stated thank you, I will get to tell the Highway Patrol story for April.  
Captain Goodman stated we had 2,305 criminal arrests of those 1,462 people were arrested; 
we had 246 DWI arrests and two DUI arrests.  There were 7,469 hazardous arrests with 498 
physical arrests, with a total of 16,584 total citations issued and 3,054 motorists assisted.  
Pursuits were back up a little bit, they were 42 in April up from 27 in March.  We investigated 
1,364 crashes, of which 20 were fatal crashes.  We recovered 7 stolen vehicles with an 
estimated worth of $235,000.00, recovered $7,700.00 worth of stolen property, and we drove 
a total of 922,012 miles in the Highway Patrol.  Captain Goodman stated we had 7 aircraft 
missions.  We gave 19,256 DL/CDL tests and total calls for service were 27,075.  Our 
Interstate Criminal Patrol seized $1,943.00 in cash, they confiscated 196 pounds of 
marijuana, 1 pounds of methamphetamine, ¼ pound of cocaine, and 976 pills including 
Xanax, Alprazolam, Hydrocodone, Lorazepam, Fentanyl, Oxycodone, Diazepam, and 
ecstasy.   
 
Commission Chairman Allison stated Regulatory and Building Operations, Major Mike 
Moyer.   
 
Major Mike Moyer stated Mr. Chairman, Commissioners, and Colonel Hagar good morning.  
During the month of April, the Identification Bureau and AFIS Section processed 23,712 
civil background checks and 8,916 criminal background checks.  The Used Motor Vehicle 
Dealer Section processed 339 dealer applications.  The PI Security Section processed 468 
licenses.  The Fire Investigators conducted five origin and cause investigations, and Bomb 
Squad handled two explosives’ calls.  
 
Major Moyer stated I will give you a quick update on our barracks construction project.  At 
the two-story barracks the plumbing is in, the slab is poured, they will start framing that in 
the next couple of weeks.  The single-story barracks plans are to begin pouring concrete on 
May 24, so they are right on track and still on track to be completed by June 2026.  
 
Colonel Hagar stated if I could I want to recognize someone really quick, two things as much 
as we enjoy recognizing our troopers, and our personnel period that get awards, I also want 
to recognize the people that put them in for those awards, that takes initiative on their part, 
and it is important.  So, I want to thank Cindy Murphy, our communications Director, for 
believing in this and making the nominations for the award.  I also want to thank our ASP 
Foundation, there were some expenses involved in putting this award together and the 
foundation picked that up, as you know in our budget, we don’t have a line item for that.  So, 
it is important for us to have the foundation pick that up.  It is very important for our 
communications team to be recognized, and I just want to explain, I am going to read it 
instead of trying to ramble through it because I don’t understand it.  Jonathan Nettles will be 
recognized for two 2025 communicator awards, his ASP Recruitment videos will receive an 
award of excellence in the Municipal Campaign for Public Relations category and his ASP 
Troop School 2024A videos series will receive an award of distinction in the Social 
Campaign Government Association for Social Media category.  To give you an idea what a 
big deal this year’s award of excellence is, recipients include Netflix, Apple, Pepsi, Walt 
Disney, and NBC Universal.  These are national awards, it is a big deal, and I just want to 
recognize Jonathan and the work he did, and I also want to thank the entire Communications 
Team, we have a few of them here, Cindy, and Nick Genty are here, Laura and Janie are not 
here.  They have put an All-Star team together with the backgrounds they all come into this 
with; it has been incredible to see what they have done for our agency.  We appreciate you  



MINUTES OF ARKANSAS STATE POLICE COMMISSION MEETING 
May 8, 2025 – Page 5 
 
 
guys’ nominating Jonathan.  We appreciate Jonathan, and congratulations on his awards.   
 
Colonel Mike Hagar stated Mr. Chairman; I would ask that we retire into executive session 
to discuss personnel matters. 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
 
Commissioner Reeves stated Mr. Chairman I would move that we retire into Executive 
Session to consider personnel matters.  Commissioner Hinkle seconded, and the motion 
passed.  Commission Chairman Allison asked anyone opposed and stated we will return 
shortly.  The Commission went into Executive Session at 10:24 a.m.   
 
At 11:17 a.m. Commission Chairman Allison stated we are back in session, and no action 
was taken. 
 
NEXT MEETING: 
 
Commission Chairman Allison stated the next commission meeting will be held on Thursday, 
June 12, 2025, at 10:00 a.m. in Little Rock, Arkansas.  
 
Commission Chairman Allison stated that date is a conflict for me, and I may not be at that 
meeting, but I will ask Commissioner Hinkle to preside over the meeting. 
 
Commissioner Edwards made a motion to adjourn.  Commissioner Hinkle seconded.  With 
no further business, Commission Chairman Allison adjourned the meeting at 11:22 a.m.   
 
 
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 

Commission Chairman 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Commission Secretary  


